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The Armstrong Fund for Science 

Proposal Preparation and Submission Instructions, and FAQs 
 

Download Request for Proposal (RFP) and application forms at https://www.umass.edu/research/armstrong- 
fund-science 

 
Pre-proposal 

A complete pre-proposal will include the following sections in the order listed:   

Cover Sheet – signed and dated 

Concept paper – two page limit, including references. Outline the thrust of the proposed work and how it 
will achieve the goals of the Armstrong Fund for Science program. Concept papers should be succinct but 
through. 

 State the research questions to be addressed and briefly describe the methodological approach.   

 Describe the potential significance and impact of the proposed study: what bold new idea does the 
project pursue? What is the potential contribution of the work to the field?  

 Identify the project team and their contributions to the project.  

 In what way is the proposed work of strategic relevance to your college?  

 What future external funding or industry partnerships do you expect to pursue? 

Current and pending support: A list of current, pending, and planned research support for all lines of 
research. Include start-up funds and RTF. Indicate sponsor, amount, and purpose of each. For 
current support (including start-up funds) include amount of funding at time of award and funds 
currently available.    

Pro forma budget  - a spreadsheet or list 

Short CV for the Principal Investigator (PI) – emphasizing research 

Letter of support from the PI’s department head or chair that affirms the strategic relevance of the 
applicant’s research to the college. 

Application submission  format: 

Create a single pdf file containing all sections in the order listed above.  

File naming: yourlastname_yourfirstinitial_AFS_Pre19.pdf (Use full first name if there may be room for 
confusion on   campus). 

Submission: 

Email application file to Michelle Wonsey at mwonsey@research.umass.edu (This 
submission does NOT go through OGCA). 

Submission Deadline: 5 pm on October 15. 

You should receive an email acknowledgment on the next business day. If you do not receive it by the second 
business day after the due date, contact Michelle Wonsey at mwonsey@research.umass.edu or 577-3726. 

Invitations to submit a full proposal will be issued to applicants by November 15.  
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Full Proposal 

Project Description:   

Refer to Request for Proposals for the technical review criteria and program priorities. Then, in the five pages 
allowed, use the section headers below to organize your project description: 

Project Summary 

 Concise overview of the proposed project 

Goals and objectives  

Problem statement. Opportunities presented and goals you will pursue in this bold, new line of research. 
Goals and objectives of the proposed study. Specific aims or research questions.  

Significance of proposed study 

 Review of literature, contribution to the field, potential to seed a new line of research  

Innovation 

Potential for major scientific or engineering impact in an area of strategic relevance to the campus.  

Research methods and approach  

 Research design, methodological approach, and techniques employed, and why they are appropriate. 
Investigator training and expertise in their use. Risks of the proposed research and alternative plans to 
ensure success. 

Future plans for the proposed research  

How the Armstrong Fund for Science award will help you to open a new line of research. External sources 
of support to which you intend to apply. Industrial partnerships you intend to develop and the impact you 
foresee. 

 

A complete full proposal will include the following sections in the order listed: 

Cover Sheets - for PI and each Co-PI. Each must be signed and dated.  

Project Description - 5 pages limit 

References List - No page  limit 

Current and Pending Support – Updated from pre-proposal 

Budget Request and Budget Justification – Use form provided 

Short CVs - For PI and Co-PIs - 2 pages each 

Letter of Support – From chair or head, updated from pre-proposal 

Format for Proposal   Narrative: 

  Five pages, single spaced, 1 inch margins on all sides.  
Fonts - Arial 10 point or Times New Roman 11 point.  

Application format: 

Create a single pdf file containing all proposal sections in the order listed above. 

File naming: yourlastname_yourfirstinitial_AFS19.pdf (Use full first name if there is room for confusion 
on campus.) 
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Submission: 

Email application file to Michelle Wonsey at mwonsey@research.umass.edu (This submission does NOT 
go through OGCA) 

Submission Deadline: 5 pm on January 10. 

Notification of Award: Early March 

Project start: August 1 

You should receive an email acknowledgment on the next business day. If you do not receive it by the second 
business day after the due date, contact Michelle Wonsey at mwonsey@research.umass.edu or 577-3726. 

Contact: Please direct questions about the Armstrong Fund for Science to Mary K. Green, Armstrong Fund 
Program Administrator, Office of Research Development at mkgreen@umass.edu or 545-8641. 

 
FAQs 
 
Q: How do I indicate that my proposed research is of strategic relevance to the college and university? 
A:  Your department chair or head should address this in their letter of support.  
 
Q: Do I include indirect expenses and fringe benefits in the budget? 
A: Do not include "indirect expenses" or “indirect costs" or “overhead", etc.  

A: Fringe benefits should be included because these are direct expenses. 

Q: Does the 5-page limit include figures?  
A: Figures must fit within the 5-page limit. 
 
Q:  How do I know if my research qualifies for the award, especially if I am in Public Health? 
A:  All research in STEM disciplines is eligible. In SPHHS or SBS, the research is eligible if it is focused on 
fundamental processes, but generally ineligible if it focuses on health or education services. Consider if your 
research idea is “of strategic relevance to the campus” and has the “likelihood of major scientific or engineering 
impact.” If you have any questions about eligibility, please contact the Program Administrator. 
 
Q: Are joint proposals permitted? 
A: Yes, they are permitted and encouraged. Note the allowance for additional Application Forms and CVs in the list 
of application sections. 
 
Q:  Will I be penalized in the judging if my proposal is for the same work I was hired for? 
A:  If in the same line of work, the proposed research should focus on an unexplored and innovative aspect of that 
work. 
 
Q: How can I find samples of funded proposals for the Armstrong Fund for Science? 
A: Many prior awardees have said they are happy to share their proposals with interested applicants. Find them 
through the Armstrong Fund Prior Awardees page https://www.umass.edu/research/armstrong-fund- prior-awardees and 
find their contact information through People Finder. The Program Administrator has also posted several funded 
proposals on the website at https://www.umass.edu/research/armstrong-fund- science-sample-applications 
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Q: Will I improve my chances by asking for less money? 
A: The maximum request is $40,000 for a two-year project. The soundness of the budget and its rationale is an 
important part of the selection criteria, but within these parameters the amount is not. 
 
Q: May funds be used for PI salary, including summer salary? 
A: There is no rule prohibiting PI salary for the Armstrong competition. However, since other internal funding 
programs specifically disallow it, the evaluators tend not to view it favorably. Applicants can include assets for 
themselves more indirectly, for example with equipment, travel or RA time. 
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